FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/5/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/2/2023 4:32 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>102061</u>-9 Court of Appeals No. 75416-5-I

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEPHEN DOWDNEY, JR.,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
richard@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Stephen Dowdney, Jr., the petitioner, asks this Court to grant review of Court of Appeals' decision terminating review, issued on March 27, 2023. The Court of Appeals denied Mr. Dowdney's motion to reconsider on May 4, 2023.¹

In its decision, the Court of Appeals blessed the perverse practice in Snohomish County that has continued unabated to this day since Mr. Dowdney's prosecution in 2016. To the disadvantage of accused persons and abusing the district's limited jurisdiction, the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office files virtually *every* felony action in district court—a court that lacks jurisdiction over felonies but has jurisdiction to conduct preliminary hearings on probable cause. But despite this being the purpose of filing in district court, preliminary hearings are almost *never* held. Instead, several weeks later, after the accused person—unable to make bail— has lingered in a small

¹ These rulings are attached in the appendix.

jail cell with nothing happening, the Snohomish County

Prosecutor's Office dismisses the district court action and
seamlessly "refiles" the action in superior court.

Through this legal farce, perpetrated by the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office, who owes a duty to accused persons to see that their rights are not violated,² the prosecution successfully delays the start of the time for trial clock—the purpose of which is to secure the constitutional right to a speedy trial—by up to 30 days. This is because, on the prosecution's view, the time for trial clock does not start until arraignment in superior court—regardless of the prosecution's shenanigans in the district court.

Consequently, without any rational justification, detained persons charged with felonies in Snohomish County are disadvantaged and treated differently compared to detained

² <u>State v. Bagby</u>, 200 Wn.2d 777, 787, 522 P.3d 982 (2023) (plurality op.), citing <u>State v. Monday</u>, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011).

person charged with felonies in other counties, who generally have their charges filed directly into superior court.

Mr. Dowdney dared to challenge this end-run of the court rules and his constitutional rights. Due the delay of his arraignment, he demanded that his time for trial clock be deemed to have started earlier. His objections and demand for a timely trial were overruled.

Still, the Court of Appeals held that the prosecution had complied with the rules and there was no equal protection or due process problem in interpreting the rules in this manner. In short, the prosecution's abuse of the district court's jurisdiction and end-run of the rules to create delay is permissible. Despite hearing oral argument and the importance of the issue presented, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion riddled with legal and factual errors.

This Court should grant review, hold that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the court rules are inconsistent with due process and equal protection principles, give those rules a

constitutional interpretation, and put an end to the Snohomish

County Prosecutor's Office's perverse practice of filing felonies
in district court in order to delay and disadvantage detained
persons.

B. ISSUE FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

In cases of detained persons charged with a felony in district court where no preliminary hearing is held and the prosecution dismisses the felony action and immediately refiles it in superior court, whether constitutional principles of equal protection and due process require the time for trial clock under the court rules to start at the time it would have started if the felony action had been filed in superior court?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following his arrest on Friday, March 11, 2016, Stephen Dowdney was held in Snohomish County jail. CP 1-2, 11, 420-21. The following Monday, he was brought before a district court judge in a preliminary appearance. CP 420. Mr. Dowdney

learned that on Sunday, a district court judge had found probable cause to support detaining him and set bail at \$500,000. CP 420-21. Mr. Dowdney asserted his right to represent himself. CP 420-21. Informed that the prosecution would be filing felony charges in district court, Mr. Dowdney objected. CP 12, 420-21.

The next day, March 15, the prosecution filed a "criminal complaint" in district court. CP 422-23. The charging document alleged that Mr. Dowdney had committed three felonies: first degree robbery, attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, and possession of a stolen vehicle. CP 422-23. On the right side of the caption, the complaint stated "FELONY DISMISSAL DATE: April 1, 2016." CP 422. According to a handout Mr. Dowdney received from the Snohomish County Public Defender Association, this was not a court date, but the deadline for the prosecution "to decide (1) whether the felony charges will be transferred to Superior Court for prosecution or

(2) whether they will offer you a plea bargain for one or more misdemeanors." CP 24-25.

Weeks passed without anything happening. CP 11-23. On March 21, Mr. Dowdney received a filing slid under his jail cell door stating that he would not be required to appear in district court until further action in his case was necessary. CP 12; 4/21/16 RP 11.

On April 1, the district court case was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction and "refiled into superior court." CP 421. That day, the prosecution filed an information in superior court charging Mr. Dowdney with first degree robbery while armed with a deadly weapon, a knife. CP 7-8. Bail was again set that day at \$500,000. CP 487-88.

On April 4, Mr. Dowdney appeared in superior court for arraignment. CP 424. Mr. Dowdney asserted his right to represent himself. CP 424. The hearing was set over to April 5. CP 424.

The next day, following a colloquy, the Court concluded that Mr. Dowdney validly waived his right to counsel and would represent himself. 4/5/16 RP 13. Mr. Dowdney objected to the court's calculation of his time for trial. 4/5/16 RP 19-20, 23. He argued the time for trial clock commenced when the prosecution charged him in district court. 4/5/16 RP 19, 23. The court overruled Mr. Dowdney's objections and set a trial date of May 13. 4/5/16 RP 23-24.

On April 21, Mr. Dowdney renewed his objections.

4/21/16 RP 3-14, 20-21. He argued that under a proper,
constitutional interpretation of the court rules, his time for trial
clock started when he was charged in district court. Without
any legitimate purpose, the prosecution was abusing the process
by filing in district court. Consequently, he sat in jail without
any hearing and was not arraigned until 21 days after the filing
of the complaint. He pointed out that if the prosecution had not
taken a needless detour by filing in district court, and filed in
superior court as would be the reasonable practice, his time for

trial clock would have started much sooner. 4/21/16 RP 12. The remedy was to move the commencement date back. 4/21/16 RP 12. The court overruled Mr. Dowdney's objections. 4/21/16 RP 22.

Mr. Dowdney renewed his objections at a hearing on May 6. 5/6/16 RP 3-11, 18-20. On May 13, Mr. Dowdney asserted that his expiration date for trial was May 30 and objected to moving it past this date. 5/13/16 RP 5.

On June 6, Mr. Dowdney renewed his objections and moved to dismiss. 6/6/16 RP 32-40, 51. The court denied Mr. Dowdney's motion. 6/6/16 RP 53-54.

That same day, Mr. Dowdney agreed to a stipulated bench trial. Following the stipulated bench trial, the court found Mr. Dowdney guilty as charged. 6/6/16 RP 67-69.

On appeal, ³ Mr. Dowdney primarily argued that under a proper interpretation of the court rules, his trial was untimely. ⁴ A contrary interpretation would violate constitutional principles of due process and equal protections because the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office's practice of filing felony charges in district court without holding a preliminary hearing, and then

³ Mr. Dowdney's appeal was originally disposed of through the procedure set out in <u>Anders v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S. Ct. 1396, 18 L. Ed. 2d 493 (1967). <u>State v. Dowdney</u>, No. 75416-5-I, noted at 5 Wn. App. 2d 1036, 2015 WL 13755022 (2015) (unpublished). However, the Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. Dowdney in his personal restraint petition that his appeal had been improperly dismissed and restored his right to appeal. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Dowdney</u>, noted at 21 Wn. App. 2d 1037, 2022 WL 896345 (2022) (unpublished).

⁴ Contrary to what the Court of Appeals' opinion says, Mr. Dowdney did not advance a constitutional speedy trial claim under the Sixth Amendment in his briefing or in his statement of additional grounds. Despite pointing this out in his motion to reconsider, the Court of Appeals refused issue a corrected opinion. The Court of Appeals also refused to correct its misstatement that counsel for Mr. Dowdney did not file the reply brief on behalf of his client. Slip op. at 12 n.2.

dismissing the action and refiling the action in superior court has no legitimate purpose—delay is *not* a valid purpose.

The Court of Appeals disagreed in an unpublished decision. Mr. Dowdney's motion to reconsider was denied.

D. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review to decide whether the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office's abusive practice of filing felony actions in district court to delay and disadvantage detained persons violates constitutional principles of due process and equal protection, and necessitates interpreting the time for trial rules in a constitutional manner that will end the abusive practice.

This Court may grant a petition for review if it involves a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). Both these factors justify review in this matter.

The Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office routinely files thousands of felony actions in district court. District courts lack jurisdiction over felonies. RCW 3.66.060. District courts, however, have jurisdiction "to sit as a committing magistrate and conduct preliminary hearings in cases provided by law."

RCW 3.66.060(2). The statute does not define the term "preliminary hearing." State v. Bliss, 191 Wn. App. 903, 913-14, 365 P.3d 764 (2015). Traditionally, however, a preliminary hearing is a hearing to determine the existence of probable cause. Summers v. Rhay, 67 Wn.2d 898, 900, 410 P.2d 608 (1966). This hearing may be beneficial to defendants because it is similar to a trial and requires witness testimony. Id. Defendants receive "incidental benefits such as the opportunity to gain freedom from an unsustainable charge without a fullscale criminal trial and the chance to gain insight into the case." State v. Berry, 31 Wn. App. 408, 412, 641 P.2d 1213 (1982). If the district court finds probable cause, it would "bind" the defendant over to superior court. Rhay, 67 Wn.2d at 900; State v. Wright, 51 Wn.2d 606, 609, 320 P.2d 646 (1958) ("If that complaint charged a felony, the King county justice court had no jurisdiction, except to hold a preliminary hearing to determine whether to bind the accused over to the superior

court for trial."). The practice is codified in the criminal rules for courts of limited jurisdiction. CrRLJ 3.2.1(g).

The Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office does not file felony charges to conduct preliminary hearings. Rather, by its own admission, it files felony actions in district court to *delay*. Br. of Resp't at 32.

And delay it does. Without any good reason, this delays a detained person's arraignment in superior court. This is critical because arraignment brings all kinds of rights, including the triggering of the 60-day time for trial clock under the court rules. CrR 3.3(b)(i), (c)(1). The underlying purpose of the time for trial rules "is to protect a defendant's constitutional right to a speedy trial." State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130, 136, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009). In short, charging a felony in district court permits the prosecution to delay the start of the time for trial clock for detained person by up to 30 days. See CrRLJ 3.2.1(g)(2) (for felony complaints where the person is confined, "the time from

the filing of the complaint in district court to the filing of an information in superior court shall not exceed 30 days").

This interpretation has constitutional implications because it results in disparate treatment in time for trial calculations for identically situated persons detained in jail who face felony prosecutions. Those who have their cases filed into district court first have their time for trial clock delayed compared to those who have their cases filed in superior court in the first instance.

Unless there is a valid reason for the prosecution's practice, this disparate treatment violates due process and equal protection.

The state and federal constitutions mandate due process and the equal protection of the laws. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 12. At a minimum, these provisions dictate that the State cannot treat people differently from similarly situated persons for arbitrary or irrational reasons. City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432, 439, 446-47,

105 S. Ct. 3249, 87 L. Ed. 2d 313 (1985); <u>U. S. Dep't of Agric. v. Moreno</u>, 413 U.S. 528, 534, 93 S. Ct. 2821, 37 L. Ed. 2d 782 (1973); <u>Reanier v. Smith</u>, 83 Wn.2d 342, 346-47, 517 P.2d 949 (1974). Additionally, due process requires that the means selected to achieve a legitimate state end must have "a real and substantial relationship." <u>State v. Blake</u>, 197 Wn.2d 170, 178, 481 P.3d 521 (2021) (quoting <u>Nebbia v. People of New York</u>, 291 U.S. 502, 525, 54 S. Ct. 505, 78 L. Ed. 940 (1934)).

The only conceivable justification for the disparate treatment for identically situated persons is that the person whose felony prosecution is filed in district court may receive a preliminary hearing on the felony complaint to determine if there is probable cause. CrRLJ 3.2.1(g)(1).

At this hearing, the defendant has a right to be present, to examine witnesses under oath, and to present evidence. CrRLJ 3.2.1(g)(4). If the defendant wins the hearing and the court finds probable cause does not exist to support the felony charges, the charges are dismissed and may not be refiled

unless the superior court grants a motion to set aside the district court's finding. CrRLJ 3.2.1(g)(5). Thus, "[t]here are reasonable and justifiable grounds for measuring the speedy trial time limits differently when a preliminary hearing is held in district court." Berry, 31 Wn. App. at 412 (emphasis added).

But this is not true when preliminary hearings are not held. Indeed, in Snohomish County, preliminary hearings on felony complaints almost never occur despite Snohomish County filing the greatest number of felony complaints in district court year after year. Br. of App. at 15-16 & APP. 22-28; Reply Br. at 3 (citing to the case reports data from the Washington court's website from 2016 to mid-2022).⁵ Indeed,

⁵ Notwithstanding the undisputed reliability of this data and the admission by the prosecution about its practice, the Court of Appeals granted the prosecution's motion to strike these materials. Slip op. at 11. It did so even though a Court of Appeals' commissioner had denied the prosecution's motion and the prosecution had failed to move to modify. That should have been the end of the matter. <u>See</u> RAP 17.7; Aurora R. Bearse, <u>The Finality of Unmodified Appellate Commissioner Rulings in Washington State</u>, 97 WASH. L. REV. ONLINE 1

its practice has continued unabated from Mr. Dowdney's prosecution to this day.⁶

Misunderstanding what due process and equal protection demand, the Court of Appeals accepted the prosecution's representation that it engages in its practice so it can "get charging decisions right." Slip op. at 10. Without any scrutiny, the Court of Appeals held this was "an adequate reason." Slip op. at 11.

This was error. Rational basis review is deferential, but not toothless. As the United States Supreme Court has explained:

even in the ordinary equal protection case calling for the most deferential of standards, <u>we insist on</u> knowing the relation between the classification

https://digitalcommons.law.uw.edu/wlro/vol97/iss1/1.

^{(2022),} available at:

⁶ For the complete 2022 data and the current 2023 data showing this, see

 $[\]frac{https://www.courts.wa.gov/caseload/content/pdf/clj/Annual/rpt}{13.pdf} \ and$

 $[\]frac{https://www.courts.wa.gov/caseload/content/pdf/clj/ytd/rpt15.p}{df.}$

<u>adopted and the object to be attained</u>. The search for the link between classification and objective gives substance to the Equal Protection Clause;

. . .

By requiring that the classification bear a rational relationship to an independent and legitimate legislative end, we ensure that classifications are not drawn for the purpose of disadvantaging the group burdened by the law.

Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 620, 633, 116 S. Ct. 1620, 134 L. Ed. 2d 855 (1996) (emphases added).

Thus, when the "breadth" of a challenged law or action "is so far removed from [the] particular justification [advanced]," courts must "find it impossible to credit them." <u>Id.</u> at 635; <u>see also Cleburne</u>, 473 U.S. at 450 (proffered justification for ordinance flunked rational basis review). Where the law or action "has an insufficient relationship to the [proffered] objective," it "is unconstitutional. <u>City of Seattle v. Pullman</u>, 82 Wn.2d 794, 802, 514 P.2d 1059 (1973); <u>accord Blake</u>, 197 Wn.2d 184 (strict liability drug possession statute was unconstitutional because there was "unreasonable

disconnect between the statute's intended goals and its actual effects").

The prosecution's explanation for its practice—being able to make more studied charging decisions—does not justify the prosecution's practice. Again, if that were the *actual* goal, the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office would hold preliminary hearings in district court so that it could "get the charges right." Further, prosecutors in other counties do not file felony actions in district court in order to prosecute. In short, the notion that the delay tactic is "necessary" and pursuant to a goal of making accurate charging decisions is belied by the practice of other prosecutors in this State. Br. of Resp't at 32. In reality, the reason the prosecution engages in its practice is to disadvantage and harm accused persons detained on felony

⁷ For example, although Pierce County has a greater population than Snohomish County and its prosecuting office would surely assert it makes "informed" prosecuting decisions, that office generally does not file felony complaints in district court. Reply Br. at 11-12.

accusations. This is constitutionally impermissible. <u>United</u>

<u>States v. Windsor</u>, 570 U.S. 744, 775, 133 S. Ct. 2675, 186 L.

Ed. 2d 808 (2013).

That the challenged practice implicates an important or substantial right is also a reason to hold that the prosecution's actions flunk rational basis review. See Jackson v. Indiana, 406 U.S. 715, 727, 730, 92 S. Ct. 1845, 32 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1972) (equal protection violated where State treated pre-trial criminal defendant "to a more lenient commitment standard and more stringent standard of release" when compared to people not charged with criminal offenses; defendant "was deprived of substantial rights to which he would have been entitled under state commitment statutes") (emphasis added); Plyler v. Doe,

⁸ <u>Jackson</u> demonstrates Mr. Dowdney identifies two discrete classes for purposes of equal protection. One class has felony prosecutions brought in superior court. The other class has their felony prosecutions brought in district court and have their felony prosecutions dismissed without a preliminary hearing and the prosecution "refiled" in superior court.

457 U.S. 202, 223-24, 102 S. Ct. 2382, 72 L. Ed. 2d 786 (1982) (in light of the "costs" that law would have in depriving undocumented children *a basic education*, "discrimination contained in [statute] can hardly be considered rational unless it furthers some substantial goal of the State").

But the State's practice of filing felony charges in district court without holding preliminary hearings deprives detained persons who cannot make bail⁹ of their substantial right under CrR 3.3 to a timely trial within 60 days of arraignment. CrR 3.3(c)(1). Instead, the prosecution effectively gets an extra 30 days to bring a person to trial. During this time, the detained defendant sits in a jail cell without the ability to defend.

Although the prosecution has certainly commenced with the filing of a criminal complaint in district court, ¹⁰ the detained

⁹ "In our society liberty is the norm, and detention prior to trial or without trial is the carefully limited exception." <u>United States v. Salerno</u>, 481 U.S. 739, 107 S. Ct. 2095, 95 L. Ed. 2d 697 (1987).

¹⁰ <u>See Rothgery v. Gillespie County</u>, 554 U.S. 191, 208, 128 S. Ct. 2578, 171 L. Ed. 2d 366 (2008) ("It would defy

person is denied their time for trial rights while a prosecutor supposedly evaluates the "proper" charges.

Beyond the legitimacy of the prosecution's supposed goal, it is critical to recognize that the means by which the prosecution is using to its purported end is illegitimate. The reason felonies are permitted to be filed in district court is to hold preliminary hearings to determine probable cause. RCW 3.66.060(2); State v. Wright, 51 Wn.2d 606, 609, 320 P.2d 646 (1958); State v. Berry, 31 Wn. App. 408, 412, 641 P.2d 1213 (1982). The purpose is not to delay. The prosecution's practice of filing felony actions in district court without holding preliminary hearings is plainly an abuse of the district court's jurisdiction and not a legitimate means to achieve proper charging decisions.

common sense to say that a criminal prosecution has not commenced against a defendant who, perhaps incarcerated and unable to afford judicially imposed bail, awaits preliminary examination on the authority of a charging document filed by the prosecutor, less typically by the police, and approved by a court of law") (cleaned up).

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