FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/5/2023 3:27 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102061-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

STEPHEN PALMER DOWDNEY JR.,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON J. CUMMINGS Prosecuting Attorney

AMANDA F. CAMPBELL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

The petitioner argues this matter involves a significant constitutional question and an issue of substantial public interest.

A. THE HAS PETITIONER **FAILED** TO **DEMONSTRATE** THIS MATTER INVOLVES SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION AS TO EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS RIGHTS BECAUSE HE IS NOT A MEMBER OF IDENTIFIABLE CLASS.

The Court of Appeals held the petitioner suffered no constitutional violation as he is not a member of a class subject to disparate treatment. The petitioner fails to address, substantively, this determinative holding in the Court of Appeals' opinion, merely contending in a footnote

² The petitioner characterizes this holding as requiring him to demonstrate prejudice to succeed on a claim under CrR 3.3. PFR at 24. The Court of Appeals opinion belies this assertion. Instead, the Court of Appeals held the petitioner's claim was *more properly* a claim alleging the

that a Supreme Court case about *indefinite* commitment following a finding of incompetence demonstrates the petitioner is also in a discrete class. PFR at 19, <u>citing</u> <u>Jackson v. Indiana</u>, 406 U.S. 715, 727, 92 S. Ct. 1845, 32 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1972) (holding a defendant who would be held indefinitely under a state statute regarding competence to stand trial was deprived of his due process and equal protection rights). The Court in <u>Jackson</u> held the defendant was in a discrete class because he could be held indefinitely, while others who had been found incompetent were subject to release. Id.

The petitioner does not, therefore, provide this Court with reason to conclude this case raises a significant constitutional question. If a defendant fails to establish membership in a sufficiently identifiable class, a court need not reach the question of whether there was a

trial court erred in granting continuances, and that argument is subject to prejudice analysis.

rational basis for the differentiation. <u>State v. Handley</u>, 115 Wn.2d 275, 292, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990).

The petitioner here has not attempted to demonstrate he is a member of a discrete class, beyond citation to an inapposite case without argument. Thus, he has not raised a substantial constitutional question, as it is well-settled a defendant must establish membership in a sufficiently identifiable class to establish a due process violation and the petitioner has not addressed how the Court of Appeals erred in holding he has not done so.

B. THE PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO **DEMONSTRATE** THIS MATTER **INVOLVES** SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION BECAUSE **ESTABLISH** HE FAILS TO SNOHOMISH COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S PRACTICE OF FILING CASES IN DISTRICT COURT IS NOT RATIONALLY RELATED TO ITS GOAL OF MAKING INFORMED CHARGING DECISIONS.

The petitioner focuses his petition for review on rehashing his contention in the Court of Appeals that the State's reason for its practice is delay and to disadvantage defendants. PFR at 14–23. The Court of

Appeals held the petitioner "provides no evidence at all (a) of such intentional dilatory misconduct by the prosecutor or anyone else, or (b) again that the practice in fact caused any inordinate delay in an arrestee's process." Slip Op. at 11.

While the petition for review contends the State's primary goal is delay and to disadvantage defendants, once again petitioner provides no evidence the State's reason for its practice is nefarious. He provides no statistical data showing defendants in Snohomish County spend more time in custody pretrial than defendants in other counties, nor any evidence that the outcomes of the defendants' cases are impacted in any way by the County's charging practices.

The State explained that its reason for charging cases in district court and setting a felony dismissal date two weeks in the future is to make informed charging decisions. Brief of Respondent, 55. The State further

explained that it receives police reports and other evidence, including forensic evidence, after the initial 72-hour period following a defendant's arrest. Brief of Respondent, 55. More information leads to better charging decisions, the opportunity for plea bargains prior to felony charges being filed in the superior court, and possible dismissal of the case prior to arraignment rather than a rush-filed decision resulting in a longer period of detention. Id.

The delayed charging decision in this matter led to fewer charges for the petitioner, as he was charged with three felonies initially and that number was reduced to one when filed in the superior court. Brief of Respondent, 56. Delaying a filing decision allows for more accurate decisions rather than repeated amendments and dismissals following arraignment.

The petitioner contends Snohomish County's practice has an insufficient relationship to the proffered

objective. PFR at 17. He applies what is, in essence, a strict scrutiny review, arguing a *better* method would be to hold preliminary hearings. PFR at 18. However, rational basis review does not require the State to act in the least restrictive manner.³ Rational basis review asks if the State's actions are rationally related to a legitimate purpose. State v. Osman, 157 Wn.2d 474, 486, 139 P.3d 334 (2006). Thus, while holding preliminary hearings also would be useful in allowing the State to make better charging decisions, it is irrelevant to a rational basis review that there are other methods the State does not employ.

The State has an interest in making better, more informed, charging decisions. To effect that interest, Snohomish County uses a charging system the court rules contemplate: filing charges in district court, then

³ The petitioner also argues the practice is not *necessary*. PFR at 18. Again, this is not the appropriate standard in a

filing charges in superior court prior to a preliminary hearing. See CrRLJ 3.2.1. The Court of Appeals held the State met its burden to provide a reason for its practice. The Court properly applied rational basis review. There is no significant constitutional question at issue.

Finally, if the sole purpose were to delay, the State would not have set a felony dismissal date only fifteen days after the charges were filed in district court. See Brief of Respondent, 4. The court rules allow for up to 30 days for the court to conduct a preliminary hearing. CrRLJ 3.2.1(g)(2). The State set the dismissal date at the time it filed charges in the district court, creating a self-imposed limit of fifteen days to file charges in superior court. Brief of Respondent, 4. In other words, the State used only half the possible time in this case, belying a claim that the State's sole purpose is delay.

rational basis review.

C. THE PETITION DOES NOT RAISE A MATTER OF SUBSTANTIAL **PUBLIC** INTEREST BECAUSE SNOHOMISH COUNTY **FOLLOWS** THE COURT RULES AND THE PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO SHOW DEFENDANTS IN SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUFFER HARM FROM THE COUNTY'S PRACTICES.

The petitioner argues he raises an issue of substantial public interest because Snohomish County's practice is unlike the practices in other counties and, "This disparately affects people arrested and prosecuted in Snohomish County." PFR at 25–26. He fails to support this claim with any evidence or authority and such an unsupported claim should not be grounds for discretionary review.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals held the County acted consistently with CrR 3.3, the State rule that protects all defendants from time for trial violations. Slip Op. at 14. There is no substantial public interest in correcting a practice that comports with the court rules.

Next, the petitioner makes an unsupported claim about time for trial in Snohomish County: the petitioner

argues the County's practices "deprives detained persons who cannot make bail of their substantial right under CrR 3.3 to a timely trial within 60 days of arraignment." PFR at 20. However, the Court of Appeals noted that the petitioner's trial date *was* set within time for trial even under petitioner's theory that he should have been tried within 60 days of the initial dismissal date following his arrest.⁴

Thus, petitioner fails to address that *his own trial* was set within 60 days of the date on which he argues he should have been arraigned. In sum, his only example of the impact this practice has on defendants demonstrates his claim is false. Defendants are not deprived of their rights to a timely trial in Snohomish County.

⁴ Dowdney was arrested on March 15, meaning the dismissal date of 72 hours later, March 18, was the date Dowdney argued was when his time for trial clock started. Dowdney's trial was set for May 13. Slip Op. at 14.

Without demonstrating that defendants in Snohomish County have longer periods of pretrial detention, and failing to show he himself was harmed by the practice, he has not demonstrated this matter raises an issue of substantial public interest.⁵

Finally, the petitioner argues the "the reason felonies are permitted to be filed in district court is to hold preliminary hearings to determine probable cause." PFR at 21. In support of this proposition, he cites part of the Revised Code of Washington, RCW 3.66.060(2), State v. Wright, 51 Wn. App. 408, 641 P.2d 646 (1958), and State v. Berry, 31 Wn. App. 408, 641 P.2d 1213 (1982). However, the court rule guiding what happens when a felony complaint is filed in district court says, "When a felony complaint is filed, the court may conduct a

⁵ The amicus brief similarly provides no evidence in support of its many claims, instead appearing to be comparable to an affidavit from one public defender.

preliminary hearing to determine whether there is probable cause to believe that the accused has committed a felony unless an information or indictment is filed in superior court prior to the time set for the preliminary hearing." CrRLJ 3.2.1(g)(1). This permissive language demonstrates the district court need not hold a preliminary hearing in every case in which a felony complaint is filed. In fact, the rule contemplates exactly what Snohomish County does: file an information in superior court after filing a felony complaint in district court. None of the authorities the petitioner relies on contradict this plain reading of the rule.

Other citations the petitioner relies on relate to jurisdiction. RCW 3.66.060(2)-(3) indicates the district court has jurisdiction "(2) to sit as a committing magistrate and conduct preliminary hearings in cases provided by

These unsubstantiated claims are not a legitimate basis for further appellate review.

law; (3) concurrent with the superior court of a proceeding to keep the peace in their respective counties." The petitioner does not appear to argue the district court lacks jurisdiction to act as it does in Snohomish County.

Similarly, <u>Wright</u> relates to the district court's jurisdiction in a case involving the jurisdiction of "justice" courts and superior courts. <u>Wright</u>, 51 Wn.2d at 609. The petitioner did not analyze this case in his briefing, but a review of the case reveals the court addressed a wholly different issue solely related to jurisdiction. Again, the petitioner does not challenge the jurisdiction of the district court here. It is unclear how <u>Wright</u> is relevant other than in deciding jurisdiction.

Finally, the petitioner cites to <u>Berry</u>, a case in which the Court of Appeals held CrR 3.3 did not violate the equal protection clause. There, quoting the Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals held,

Accordingly, the question is not whether the statute is discriminatory in nature, nor is it of paramount concern if the classification results in some inequality. The crucial determination is whether there are reasonable and justifiable grounds giving rise to the classification. State v. Persinger, 6 supra; State v. Kitsap County Bank, 10 Wn.2d 520, 117 P.2d 228 (1941). Finally, in making this determination, it is recognized that the legislature has a wide of discretion in defining range classifications and that such enactments are presumptively valid.

Berry, 31 Wn. App. at 412.

The court held there were four ways to determine probable cause, *including filing an information in superior court,* and held "the sole function of the preliminary hearing in district court is to determine probable cause."

<u>Id.</u> The court did *not* hold that cases may only be filed in district court if there is a preliminary hearing.

Thus, the petitioner's cited authority for his contention that felonies are permitted to be filed in district court to hold preliminary hearings—not to file a

⁶ State v. Persinger, 62 Wn.2d 362, 382 P.2d 497 (1963).

subsequent information prior to a preliminary hearing—has no support in legal authority. The petitioner cites to cases related to the district court's jurisdiction, but mounts no challenge to the district court's jurisdiction in this case. Moreover, the petitioner does not address CrRLJ 3.2.1(g), which explicitly allows for the exact practice used in Snohomish County. If the only legitimate purpose of filing complaints in district court were to hold a preliminary hearing, the court rule would not use explicitly permissive language. Instead, the rule allows the State to file felony charges in superior court prior to the hearings. The court rules plainly undermine the petitioner's argument.

The petitioner also relies on <u>State v. Chhom</u>, 162 Wn.2d 451, 173 P.3d 234 (2007). In that case, this Court held the State's argument that the phrased used in CrRLJ 3.3(g)(5), "outside the county," referred to a foreign jurisdiction, not to geographical location. <u>Id.</u> at 459. The

Court held explained a plain reading of the rule demonstrated this was only rational interpretation.

The petitioner cannot extend the same logic in this case. As explained, the petitioner seeks to interpret a permissive word, "may," as a mandatory directive. The rule states, "When a felony complaint is filed, the court may conduct a preliminary hearing" CrRLJ 3.2.1(g)(1). The State and Court of Appeals do not construe this in an absurd manner, but plainly.

Further, the petitioner appears to proffer a modification to CrR 3.3, arguing the time for trial clock should start when "it would have started if the prosecution had filed the matter in superior court." PFR at 23–24. It is unclear if he is arguing CrR 3.3 as written is unconstitutional. In any case, a modification to the rule is unnecessary. As explained above, the petitioner's trial was set within the time for trial that would have been in place had he been arraigned three days after his arrest.

The Court of Appeals' decision followed established precedent and included a plain reading of the time for trial rules. Moreover, it included a correct understanding of the procedural history of this matter, which demonstrates the petitioner suffered no harm from the constitutional violations he alleges. There is no need for further review.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review should be denied.

This brief contains 2928 words (exclusive of appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images).